Le makes

#### COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA

# DEPARTMENT OF NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT BUREAU OF MINERAL RESOURCES GEOLOGY AND GEOPHYSICS

**RECORDS:** 

1966/172



017015

A PROPOSAL FOR TIME-STRATIGRAPHIC SUBDIVISION OF THE AUSTRALIAN PRECAMBRIAN.

Ъу

P.R. Dunn, K.A. Plumb and H.G.Roberts.

The information contained in this report has been obtained by the Department of National Development, as part of the policy of the Commonwealth Government, to assist in the exploration and development of mineral resources. It may not be published in any form or used in a company prospectus without the permission in writing of the Director, Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology and Geophysics.

## A PROPOSAL FOR TIME-STRATIGRAPHIC SUBDIVISION OF THE AUSTRALIAN PRECAMBRIAN

by

#### P.R. Dunn, K.A. Plumb and H.G. Roberts

#### Records 1966/172

#### CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY	
INTRODUCTION	1
FORMER NOMENCLATURE	1
PRINCIPLES FOR PRECAMBRIAN TIME-DIVISION	2
AVAILABLE DATA	2
Major unconformities and igneous activity Depositional sequences	3 4
PROPOSALS FOR SUBDIVISION	5
Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian") System Carpentarian System Adelaidean System	6 6 6
COMPARISON WITH OTHER COUNTRIES	7
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
REFERENCES	9

- TABLE 1: Nomenclature applied by various authors to subdivisions of the Australian Precambrian
- TABLE 2: Comparison of selected Precambrian time and time-rock classifications
- FIGURE 1: Chart summarizing main stratigraphic sequences and key age determinations throughout the Precambrian of Australia

The information contained in this report has been obtained by the Department of National Development, as part of the policy of the Commonwealth Government, to assist in the exploration and development of mineral resources. It may not be published in any form or used in a company prospectus without the permission in writing of the Director, Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology and Geophysics.

#### SUMMARY

Sufficient stratigraphic and radiometric data are now available to provide the basis for a time-stratigraphic subdivision of the Precambrian in Australia.

The data show that a major stratigraphic break occurred from about 2600 to 2300 m.y. and another at about 1800 m.y., and that igneous activity was widespread from 2700 to 2600 m.y., and at about 1800 m.y. and 1500 m.y. Three largely unmetamorphosed rock sequences represent most of the time-interval from 2300 m.y., to the start of the Cambrian.

The terms Archaean and Proterozoic are tentatively retained with a boundary at or before about 2300 m.y. Time-rock subdivision of the Proterozoic is proposed in terms of the three unmetamorphosed rock sequences deposited after 2300 m.y. The oldest time-rock unit is to be defined from the Hamersley Range area of Western Australia and is tentatively named the Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian") System with a base dated at about 2300 m.y. The other units are the Carpentarian and Adelaidean Systems which have bases dated at about 1800 m.y. and 1400 m.y., respectively. The top of the Adelaidean System is defined by the base of the Cambrian.

The boundaries between the proposed time-rock units have ages comparable with those of boundaries between some overseas Precambrian subdivisions based on plutonic events.

## A PROPOSAL FOR TIME-STRATIGRAPHIC SUBDIVISION OF THE AUSTRALIAN PRECAMBRIAN

bу

P.R. Dunn, K.A. Plumb and H.G. Roberts

#### Introduction

In the past decade many of the Precambrian rocks of Australia have been investigated for the first time, and vast areas previously known only from sketchy reconnaissance have now been mapped at 1:250,000 scale. Some areas (e.g. the Mount Isa region of Queensland and the Pilbara region of Western Australia) have been mapped as single integrated projects; others (e.g. the Adelaide Geosyncline) have been subject to continuous and growing scrutiny.

The improvement in stratigraphic knowledge of the Precambrian has been accompanied by an increase in the number of reliable radiometric age determinations available for assessing the time significance of various successions. Together this information is sufficient to justify a new attempt to define objective time-rock units and to assess the role of radiometric age determinations in such definitions.

The purposes of this paper are to set out the stratigraphic and radiometric requirements for a satisfactory time-stratigraphic subdivision of the Precambrian; to suggest where in practice these theoretical requirements may be best fulfilled in Australia; and to describe the subdivision which has been adopted by the Commonwealth Bureau of Mineral Resources.

#### Former Nomenclature

Many attempts have been made to subdivide the Australian Precambrian succession: a number are shown in Table 1. Of necessity all were based primarily on broad lithological correlations and comparisons of metamorphic grade. Thus the gneissic and crystalline "basement" rocks have been consistently regarded as Archaean or Archaeozoic, and the less deformed sedimentary and metamorphic rocks have generally been described as Proterozoic.

David (1932) proposed a two-fold subdivision of the Proterozoic, and with the notable exception of Hossfeld (1954), most authors accepted this basic subdivision, although they applied different terminology and included different successions in the subdivisions. Hossfeld (1954) divided the Proterozoic rocks of the Northern Territory into three and foreshadowed the subdivision proposed here. However, we consider that all previous classifications are unsatisfactory since they were made without the advantage of radiometric age-determinations now available, and thus could not be used for objective continent-wide correlations.\*

The classification used by Walpole et al.(1965) (Table 1) was that presented at the 1964 A.N.Z.A.A.S. Conference in Canberra; it represents a stage in the development of the classification presented here.

#### Principles for Precambrian time-division

Orogenic events and the associated granitic intrusions have been most commonly used to designate the boundaries of Precambrian subdivisions throughout the world. However, each orogenic event extends over a considerable period of time and therefore the definition of the boundaries of subdivisions must be based on a statistical analysis of dates, as has been done by the Geological Survey of Canada (Stockwell, 1964). Thus the boundary is defined in terms of time and not the rocks themselves.

Australia is fortunate in having a number of largely unmetamorphosed rock sequences with interspersed igneous rocks; together the sequences appear to represent the interval of time between about 2300 m.y. and the beginning of the Cambrian. A number of radiometric dates have already been obtained from rocks within these sequences and many more can be expected in the future. Thus, using these dates somewhat as fossils are used for correlations in the Phanerozoic, the Precambrian (after about 2300 m.y. at least) can be subdivided into time-rock units similar to those used in the Phanerozoic. The International Subcommission on Stratigraphic Terminology (I.S.S.T., 1965) has recommended the eventual use of such subdivisions in the Precambrian. Spry & Banks (1955) have also discussed a similar use of radiometric ages for the subdivision of Precambrian time.

A type section is needed to define a time-rock unit; the ideal type sequence:

- (i) should span, more or less continuously, the time interval it represents;
- (ii) should not be metamorphosed or otherwise altered to a degree whereby the radiometric ages obtained from various rocks do not represent the original age; and
- (iii) should have a clearly defined base with a rock-unit at or near it which can be dated.

The top of such a time-rock unit would be determined by reference to the defined base of the next youngest time-rock unit. In this way a succession of time-rock units would represent a continuous span of time without overlaps or gaps caused by discrepencies between the age of the defined top of a unit and the age of the separately defined base of the overlying unit.

The definition of the time-rock unit is clearly not directly dependent on time. The age limits assigned to the units by radiometric dating may change as radiometric techniques are improved and more dates are forthcoming; but for effective use of time-rock units it is essential to have type sequences dated as accurately as possible by radiometric means.

The reader is referred to McDougall et al. (1965) and Crook (1966) who have discussed the principles of Precambrian time-rock classification in some detail.

#### Available data

A chart incorporating stratigraphic and radiometric data was shown by B.P. Walpole and discussed at a symposium on Precambrian Geochronology held at the Australian National University in December 1964. Figure 1 is a simplified version of the chart in which only major depositional sequences, unconformities and igneous intrusions have been incorporated, and the age determinations have been summarized.

	bdivis:co	SOUTH AUSTRALIA and N S.W.		N	NORTHERN JERRITORY			QUEENSLAND NORTHERN			TERRITO	RY	WESTERN AUSTRALIA								
-		my.	FLINDER RANGES-I	BROKENHILL	EYRE PENNSUL	so so	υтн	CEN	TRAL	MOUNT	SA AREA	NORTH	-EAST	NOR	тн .	KIMBE	RLEY	PILBAR	A AREA	"YILGARN	BLOCK "
	System	700 - 800 -	Group Caltana Beds	'00 R) ≥890(R)	Tent Hill II Formation II Tregalano II Shale	Arumbera Greywacke Pertatataka Formation  Areyonga a Formation Bitter Spring Limestone	<b>₹</b>	Mopunga Group Field River - Beds						Tomer Group Wesser Broup	790, KR.	Albert Edward Group Duerdir, AA Group	670(R)				
	Adelaidean Sy	1100-			١٩	Heavitree Quartzite	   						-			Glidden Group Osmond Range	1130(R)				1000(R) 🐬
0		·300 -		~	Roopena N= 1350 (R	Bloods Range Beds Mt Harris Base t	1200(F ≪			South Nicholson Group	~~4 <del>20.</del> ₹.	Roper Group	1390(KR)	Roper Group	1280(K¹≪€	Bungle Bungle Bungle Co'omite		Bangemali Group			1240(R) <b>◆</b>
-    -    -    -    -    -	enterian Syste	1500 - 1600 -	Wiryama () and () Mount () Painter	1520(R) <b>√</b> 1500(R) <b>√</b> 1720(R) <b>√</b>	Volcanics (R)  Volcanics (R)  Moonable (R)  Formation (I)		<b>v</b>	Hatches Ck Group	1440(K)	Formation Mt iso Shale Myally	I52O(R⊬ →	Tawallah Group  Cliffdale  Volcanics	1520(Ā; < - 1600 (R , K ) - 1790(KR) <	natherine R:ver Group	1470(R) <	Parker	1690(R)	Bresnahan Group	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
	Proterozoic	2000-	\$			Musgrave -	<b></b> -	Warramunga Group		Leichhardt Metamorphics Yaringa Metamorphics		Murphy Metamorphics	1815(K)	South Ailigator Group Finniss River Group Goodparla a	& 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Whitewater - Volcanics		Myloo Group	- 1850 (R)		
	Lower	2200 -				Mann Complex and Arunta Complex		Arunta Complex	~ 				<b></b>	Batchelor Groups		Holls Creek Group	录	Group	- 2250(R) - 2250(R)		
. N Q		2400- 2500 - 2600 -	  }.soo  }	Span of seque of sediment of succession Unconformit Position of se uncertain	y Grant  Grant  Grant  Grant  Grant  Grant  Waguanca  Wash	e and metamorphic	₫.							Rum Jungte Complex	2550 < 10 (Pour aircon)						2200-
A B C H D B A		2600 - 2900 -	0) A	Duration of si uncertain Pasition of un Gracial bods Ages in millo	econformity uncertain Passit of ever	ie revised position nt									ĭ ∳			Roebourne Group (incl.Mosquito Creek Beds)	₹ 3040(R)	"Yilgarn Series" )	2700 <
R	EFERE	NCES	Compston et al Thomson, 1966 Pidgeon, 1964		Compston,et al, 196 Thomson, 1966	Forman, 199 Wilson, et a Leggo, P.J.(	1.,1960	Walpole and	Smith, 1960	Carter, et al. Richards, et Richards, 19	al, 1963	McDougali,ei Dunn, et al.,		M=Dougall,e Waipole,et o Roberts,et o Leggo,PJ.(B. Richards J.e	ol.,in prep ol.,in prep. .M R)pers comm		M.(B.M.R.) pers.comm.	Halligan and Leggo, et al Wilson, et a	Daniols,1964 ,1965 1 , 1960	Wilson,et al , Compstan, W pe	1960 ANU) rs.comm.

Figure I. Chart summarizing main stratigraphic sequences and key age determinations throughout the Precambrian of Australia.

Major unconformities and igneous activity. Ryan's (1965) paper implies the presence of a major unconformity below his Roebourne Group in the Pilbara region of Western Australia, and Horwitz & Soufoulis (1965) suggest the presence of an unconformity within the "greenstonewhitestone" sequence of the Kalgoorlie-Norseman area. However the oldest confirmed major unconformities in Australia are (i) beneath the Mount Bruce Supergroup in north-west Western Australia (McLeod et al., 1963) and (ii) between the Rum Jungle Complex and sediments of the Pine Creek Geosyncline in the Northern Territory (Rhodes, 1965). The Mount Bruce Supergroup overlies metamorphics and granites of the Pilbara Block in the north; the Pilbara granites and associated pegmatites are considered to be between 2800 and 3000 m.y. old (Leggo et al., 1965). The Yilgarn Block crops out some distance to the south of the Mount Bruce Supergroup and the two have not been seen in contact with one another. The Yilgarn Block however is apparently the older and in the Kalgoorlie-Norseman area and west of Perth contains younger granites and metamorphics dated between 2600 and 2700 m.y. (A. Turek, pers. comm, Wilson et al., Individual minerals from rocks in both the old blocks have yielded dates between 2200 and 2400 m.y., but these dates are believed to represent minor metamorphism and pegmatite intrusion only (Wilson et al., 1960, Leggo et al., 1965).

The unconformity would therefore appear to represent a period of non-deposition extending from at least 2600 m.y. to about 2300 m.y., the age of the base of the Mount Bruce Supergroup. Granite in the Rum Jungle Complex has been dated at about 2550 m.y. (Richards et al., 1966) and the unconformity above it appears to represent a similar period of time to the Western Australian unconformity.

The next oldest, and the best established, unconformity was developed at about 1800 m.y. Granites in the Katherine-Darwin (P.J. Leggo, pers. comm.), Carpentaria (McDougall et al., 1965), Kimberley (V.M. Bofinger pers. comm.), Mount Isa (Richards et al., 1963), and Pilbara areas of Northern Australia (Leggo et al., 1965) were intruded at about this time and, in the first three of these areas the granites are associated with acid volcanics of a similar age. This period of magmatic activity was used by Walpole & Smith (1960) to define the boundary between their Agicondian and Davenportian Series. The dates available to Walpole & Smith were determined by the K-Ar method (Hurley et al., 1960) on granites from the Katherine-Darwin and Tennant Creek areas and show a considerable scatter (1520-1720 m.y.). Subsequently, Leggo (pers. comm.) using the total-rock Rb-Sr method showed that the same granites from the Katherine-Darwin area give a single age of about 1760 m.y. the older granites in the Tennant Creek area, which Walpole & Smith equated with the Katherine-Darwin granites, may also be about 1760 m.y. old.

Later periods of magmatic activity, although widespread, are less obviously related to breaks in the sedimentary sequence. The Gawler Range Volcanics in South Australia (Compston et al., 1966) and the Mundi Mundi Granite and extensive pegmatization near Broken Hill (Pidgeon, 1964) have been dated at abetween 1500 and 1600 m.y. Granites have also been emplaced at about 1600 m.y. in South Australia (Compston et al., 1966).

Richards et al., (1963) using K-Ar methods have dated metamorphics and associated granitic intrusions in north-west Queensland between 1350 and 1460 m.y.; these dates correspond roughly to those which Hurley et al., (1960) obtained (1320 to 1540 m.y.) on granites from the Davenport Range area, Northern Territory, and which Walpole & Smith (1960) used to define the younger limits of their Davenportian Series. In view of the older age indicated by the Rb-Sr method for the Katherine-Darwin granites it is

### TABLE 1: NOMENCLATURE APPLIED BY VARIOUS AUTHORS TO SUBDIVISONS OF THE AUSTRALIAN PRECAMBRIAN

David (1914)	David (1932)	David (Browne) (1950)	Noakes (1953, 1956)	Hossfeld (1954)	Dept. of National Development (1958)	Tectonic Map of Australia (1962)	Walpole, Roberts, & Forman (1965)	Proposed
	NEWER Adelaide Series Nullagine Series etc.	UPPER PRECAMBRIAN Adelaide System, Nullagine Series etc.	UPPER PROTEROZOIC Nullagine; Adelaide System	UPPER PROTEROZOIC Pertaknurra and Pertatataka Series	UPPER PROTEROZOIC UPPER) Ade- ) laide ) and ) Nulla- ) gine LOWER) Systems	UPPER PROT- EROZOIC UPPER Adelaide System  LOWER	UPPER PROTEROZOIC	ADELAIDEAN SYSTEM
ALGONKIAN Mosquito Creek Series, Warrawoona Series	PROTEROZOI C	MIDDLE PRECAMBRIAN Mosquito Creek Series, Kurrawong Series etc.	LOWER PROTEROZOIC  Mosquito Creek	MIDDLE PROTEROZOIC Davenport Series  LOWER PROTEROZOIC Agicondi Series	LOWER PROTEROZOIC	LOWER PROTEROZOIC UPPER Davenport System LOWER Agicondian System	MIDDLE PROTEROZOIC  LOWER PROTEROZOIC	CARPENTARIAN SYSTEM  LOWER PROTEROZOIC ("Nullaginian")
ARCHAEAN	ARCHAEOZOIC  Kalgoorlie Series (Upper Warrawoona) etc.  Yilgarn Series (Lower Warrawoona) etc.	LOWER PRECAMERIAN Kalgoorlie Series, Yilgarn Series	ARCHAEOZOIC  Kalgoorlie- Yilgarn	ARCHAEOZOIC	ARCHAEAN	ARCHAEAN	ARCHAEAN	ARCHAEAN

reasonable to assume that all the Davenport Range granites will be at least as old as the oldest age obtained by Hurley with the K-Ar method (i.e. 1540 m.y.). Richards (1966) has recently shown that the same may apply to the age of the north-west Queensland granites. The granites in both areas may therefore be as old as those at Broken Hill and Gawler Range.

Wilson et al., (1960) have dated the pegmatites in the Musgrave Ranges in central Australia and over a considerable distance along the western and southern margins of the Western Australian Precambrian Shield as 1000-1100 m.y. Granites of about the same age were emplaced in the Albany district of Western Australia (Turek & Stevenson, 1966).

Depositional sequences - Between and overlapping the unconformities and igneous events there is an almost continuous and largely unmetamorphosed record of sedimentation and volcanic activity from about 2300 m.y. to the base of the Cambrian. The sedimentary record before 2600 m.y. is blurred by metamorphism, but the low-grade metamorphics in the Mosquito Creek and Kalgoorlie areas of Western Australia provide some detail of sedimentation in the latest part of the period.

The Mount Bruce Supergroup in the Hamersley Range area of Western Australia provides an apparently continuous sequence of unmetamorphosed rocks extending from about 2300 m.y. to 1800 m.y.: volcanics near the base and top of the Supergroup have been dated at 2250 m.y. (Compston, unpubl. data) and 1850 m.y. (Leggo et al., 1965) respectively. Another volcanic unit within the sequence has been dated at 2100 m.y. The Supergroup is intruded by a granite with a minimum (op. cit.). age of 1720 m.y. (op. cit.) and is unconformably overlain by the undated Bresnahan Group (Halligan & Daniels, 1964). The sediments and volcanics The sediments and volcanics in the Pine Creek Geosyncline in the Northern Territory have not been dated, but dates from underlying and overlying rocks limit the period of their deposition to an interval somewhere between 2550 and 1760 m.y. The Halls Creek Group in the Kimberley region of Western Australia was regionally metamorphosed about 1950 m.y. ago. (V.M. Bofinger, Bureau of Mineral Resources, pers. comm.), but its lower age limit is unknown.

The extrusion of acid volcanics associated with the granitic event dated at about 1800 m.y. marked the start of sedimentation over large areas of north Australia. A feature of the sedimentation is the similarity of sequences in the Kimberley, Carpentaria, and Mount Isa areas. After the initial acid vulcanism a predominantly arenaceous basic volcanic sequence (Kimberley, Tawallah, and Katherine River Groups; Eastern Creek Volcanics and Myally Beds) was deposited and followed by a carbonate-lutite sequence (McArthur Group, Lawn Hill Formation-Mount Isa Shale etc.). This in turn was followed, after a minor break, by a sandstone-shale sequence (Roper and South Nicholson Groups) in the Carpentaria area. Early correlations made between widely separated areas on the basis of these lithologies have been confirmed by age determinations.

Age determinations on igneous rocks and glauconite from the Carpentaria area (McDougall et al., 1965) indicate that, apart from a few minor breaks, sedimentation was continuous from 1790 m.y. (the age of the Cliffdale Volcanics) until about 1250 m.y. (intrusion of dolerite sills into the Roper Group). The age of the base of the Roper Group appears to be about 1400 m.y. In the Mount Isa area sedimentation appears to have taken place between 1775 m.y. and about 1420 m.y. (Richards et al., 1963). In the Kimberley area acid vulcanism apparently occurred spasmodically between about 1820 and 1790 m.y., and sedimentation was then continuous until some time after 1690 m.y. (V.M. Bofinger, pers. comm.); sediments which unconformably overly this sequence have been dated at 1130 m.y. (Glidden Group) and 670 m.y. (Albert Edward Group).

A thick sedimentary sequence was deposited in the Adelaide Geosyncline before the beginning of Cambrian time, but radiometric data on its age are not adequate (Compston et al., 1966). Thomson (1966) has suggested that the Callana Beds overlying basement near Wooltana Homestead in the northern Flinders Range represent the oldest period of deposition in the Geosyncline. Because of a Palaeozoic metamorphism, the Wooltana Volcanics within the Callana Beds have not yet been dated with certainty. Present radiometric data indicate that they are 850 m.y. or older while the shales which immediately overlie the volcanics give a minimum age of either 1200 m.y. or 950 m.y. depending on interpretation of the data, which show a superimposed metamorphic isochron at 465 m.y. Thomson (1966) has correlated the Wooltana Volcanics on lithological grounds with the Roopena Volcanics west of Spencer Gulf, which have been reliably dated at 1345 m.y. These data and their implications have been discussed in detail by Thomson (op. cit.) and Compston et al., (op. cit.). If Thomson's correlation is regarded as valid the base of the sequence in the Adelaide Geosyncline would be about 1400 m.y. old, and similar in age to the base of the Roper Group and its equivalents in northern Australia.

Nowhere else in Australia, apparently, is there a sequence which represents late Precambrian time as completely as that in the Adelaide Geosyncline. The late Precambrian sediments in the Amadeus Basin, Northern Territory, (Wells et al., 1965) and the Bangemall Group in Western Australia (Halligan & Daniels, 1964) have lithological affinities with the Adelaide sequence and can probably be correlated in part. Other minor sequences which have provided age determinations within the time-range of the Adelaide rocks are those already mentioned from the Kimberley and Carpentaria areas, the Wessel Group (790 m.y.), also in the Carpentaria area, and the Cardup Shale (650 m.y.?) near Perth (Compston & Pidgeon, 1962).

Late Precambrian glacial sediments are known from the Adelaide Geosyncline, central Australia, and the Kimberley region of Western Australia. Radiometric work is currently being undertaken to check whether, as is generally believed, the periods of glaciation were all broadly contemporaneous.

The position of the metamorphic and igneous events in central and Western Australia dated at 1000 to 1100 m.y. has not been determined in relation to the sequence in the Adelaide Geosyncline or any other major sedimentary sequence.

#### Proposals for subdivision

Considering our knowledge of the Australian Precambrian as summarized in Figure 1 and in the previous section we can first divide Precambrian time into two: an upper part in which further subdivisions might be made in terms of time-rock units, and a lower part which, at present, does not appear to contain sequences which fulfil the conditions necessary for the definition of time-rock units. The boundary lies somewhere between 2250 and 2600 m.y.

The two parts roughly correspond to the subdivisions of Proterozoic and Archaean previously used in Australia. The boundary between the Proterozoic and Archaean as defined by the Canadian Geological Survey is 2390 m.y. (Stockwell, 1964). For the present we therefore propose that these two names be retained for the major time divisions and given era rank. Their use in the future might be discontinued when "Archaean" time-rock units become firmly established.

The known rock sequences of Proterozoic age in Australia can be used to define three major time-rock units: Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian") System, Carpentarian System, and Adelaidean System.

Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian") System - The oldest Proterozoic sequence at present known in Australia which satisfies the requirements for the definition of a time-rock unit is the Mount Bruce Supergroup (McLeod et al., 1963; Leggo et al., 1965). So far no formal definition of a time-rock unit based on this sequence has been made, but Brown et al., (1966) have tentatively used the name "Nullaginian" System in reference to it. Until the unit is formally defined and named we propose to refer to it as Lower Proterozoic, with or without "Nullaginian" following in brackets. Formal definition of the unit should await more conclusive determination of the age of the base of the Supergroup, which at present is tentatively taken as about 2300 m.y.

The Agicondian Series of Walpole & Smith (1960) is probably similar in age to the Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian"), but its type area is not suitable for the definition of a major time-rock unit.

Carpentarian System - The data from the Carpentaria area are adequate for the definition of the time-rock unit Carpentarian System, as proposed by McDougall et al., (1965). Its base is represented by the Cliffdale Volcanics, whose age is about 1800 m.y., this base also defines the top of the Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian") System. This unit may correspond to the 'Davenportian Series' proposed by Walpole & Smith (1960). However the name Davenportian is inappropriate since the Davenport Range area does not include a representative sequence for the time-interval involved.

Adelaidean System - Despite general usage of Adelaide System we prefer the adjectival form, Adelaidean System. The term Adelaide System has long been applied to the sequence in the Adelaide Geosyncline. The definition of Adelaide System was formalized by Mawson & Sprigg (1950) and later extended by Sprigg (1952). Thomson (1966) has now defined the base of the Adelaide System at the base of the Paralana Quartzite in the Wooltana area. As previously stated, this base has not been accurately dated, but is tentatively taken at about 1400 m.y., although it might be as young as 850 m.y. (Compston et al., 1966). The top of the system is defined by the base of the Cambrian, the age of which is beyond the scope of this paper.

The glacial record within the Adelaidean may provide the basis for further subdivision of the system (into series) on an Australia-wide basis, but the erection of such subdivisions is not discussed in this paper.

In summary, we propose that the Precambrian in Australia should still be divided into two major erathems, Archaean and Proterozoic, with a boundary tentatively placed at or before about 2300 m.y.; the Proterozoic to be further divided into three systems. The oldest system has not yet been formally named and we propose using Lower Proterozoic ("Nullaginian") System to cover it until it is defined. The Lower Proterozoic System is succeeded by the Carpentarian System, which has a base dated at about 1800 m.y. The youngest system is the Adelaidean System, the base of which, in the light of evidence now available, is taken provisionally at about 1400 m.y.

These subdivisions have been incorporated on Figure 1, which thus shows the age, in these terms, of many sequences throughout Australia. In its future publications the Bureau of Mineral Resources will use this

Time scale in	U. S	S.A.	CAN	ADA	U. S. S. R.	AUSTRALIA	
million years	Goldich et al.(1961)	Eardley (1963)	Stockwell (1963)	Stockwell (1964)	Semikhatov (1964) Vinogradov & Tugarinov (1964) Keller (1964)	Proposed Classification	
1000 -	Z Grenville 1000- W & KEWEENAWAN SYSTEM	Mazatzal 1300	o MIDDLE	HADRYNIAN  Granvilla  Neo-  helikian  Granvilla  Neo-  Elsonian	(Salop, 1964)  (Salop, 1964)	ADELAIDEAN SYSTEM	
1500-	Penokean 1700-	Orogeny Z	PROTEROZOIC	Palaeo- A Hudsonian  A Hudsonian	Riphaean Riphaean Riphaean Riphaean	O CARPENTARIAN  CARPENTARIAN  SYSTEM  CONTROL  LOWER	
2000 -	MIDDE MAINONUH MAINON	Algoman 2200 Orogeny	LOWER PROTEROZOIC	APHESIAN  Kenoron	PRECAMBRIAN II PROTEROZOIC Archdedn	PROTEROZOIC ("Nullaginian") SYSTEM 2300-	
3000	Algoman 2500 Orogeny TIMISKAMIAN SYSTEM Lowentian Orogeny ONTARIAN SYSTEM ONTARIAN SYSTEM	EARLY PRECAMBRIAN	Kenoran Oragany	A P C H A E A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2700 2700±100 PRECAMBRIAN I ARCHAEAN Katarchaean	A R C H A E B A R	

Table 2 — Comparison of selected Precambrian time and time-rock classifications

classification, but will modify it periodically as new information becomes available (i.e. a new name for the Lower Proterozoic System or an improved dating of the base of the Adelaidean).

#### Comparison with other countries

. 4 . 45

Despite the increasing number of age determinations being made on Precambrian rocks throughout the world, worldwide correlations must remain speculative. The use of different methods, minerals, and decay constants in age determination and the different treatment of the results obtained make accurate comparisons difficult.\* Varying sampling densities can also lead to misinterpretations.

Gastil (1960) and Aldrich et al., (1960) plotted the distribution of Precambrian mineral dates throughout the world and concluded that a number of worldwide tectonic-magmatic events occurred within the following time intervals: 900-1150 m.y.; 1300-1500 m.y.; 1600-1900 m.y.; 2000-2200 m.y.; 2450-2750 m.y. The peaks of the mineral-age distributions occur at 1000 m.y., 1400 m.y., 1750 m.y., 2100 m.y. and 2650 m.y. Salop (1964) recognized five global tectonoplutonic cycles at 600 m.y.; 1000-1100 m.y.; 1400-1500 m.y.; 1800-2100 m.y.; and 2600-2800 m.y. The tectonic events in Australia for the most part correspond to these cycles surprisingly well.

Wilson et al., (1960) compared dates then available from Australia with those from North America and suggested that events dated at 900-1100 m.y., 1600-1700 m.y., and 2300-2400 m.y., were common to both regions. Goldich et al., (1961) reviewed dates available from throughout the world and suggested correlations of Australian events dated at older than 2500 m.y. and 1500-1700 m.y. with similarly aged world-wide events.

A comparison of our proposed subdivisions with overseas subdivisions of the Precambrian is made in Table 2.\*\* Eardley's classification (1963) is quoted for comparison with that of Goldich et al., (1961), which was mainly devised for rocks of the Minnesota region, where the Mazatzal and Beltian orogenies quoted by Eardley are not apparent.

Glaessner (1966) and Welin (1966) have recently produced tables showing comparisons of Precambrian sequences from different parts of the world. Glaessner has compared time-rock and rock units from the Canadian and Baltic Shields, southern Africa and Australia, and Welin has compared major geological events and the division of the Precambrian of North America and northern Europe. Both tables supplement the information in Table 2.

<sup>\*</sup>For example 1.39 x 10<sup>-11</sup>yr<sup>-1</sup> has been used for the decay constant in Rb-Sr age determinations quoted here and a reduction of 6 percent in the calculated age is possible owing to uncertainty in this parameter. Furthermore, comparisons between Rb-Sr and K-Ar ages show that the former are usually several percent older, so that 2600 m·y. on the time scale considered here might be equivalent to less than 2500 m·y. on the K-Ar scale employed by the Canadian Geological Survey.

Two Canadian classifications are given to illustrate the changing thoughts in what is considered by many to be the type Proterozoic section of the world. The notable changes in 1964 are (1) the dropping of the terms Upper, Middle, and Lower Proterozoic because of the confusion in their usage, and (2) the recognition of an Elsonian orogeny at 1280 m.y.

Russian literature contains a confusing array of Precambrian nomenclature, but over recent years has been adopting more and more the recommendations of the Committee on Absolute Dating of Geologic Formations, U.S.S.R. Academy of Sciences. We have set out the subdivisions recommended by this Committee in 1961 as quoted by Semikhatov (1964) with modifications to the Riphaean as recommended by Vinogradov & Tugarinov (1961). For comparison we include the subdivisions later recommended by the 12th Session of the Committee in 1963 as quoted by Polovinkina & Polevaya (1964), with the Riphaean subdivided according to Keller (1964).

No recent comprehensive classification of the Precambrian in Africa is available to the authors.

Most countries have based their classifications on the occurrence of orogenies or, as Gilluly (1966) suggests they should be called, plutonic events. Differences exist in the choice of significant plutonic events for subdivision, but most countries recognize their existence.

The difference in the apparent ages of the events may be real, or may be due to the use of different dating techniques. The point of time within a period of plutonic events which is used to define subdivision boundairies is also significant. The Canadian Survey uses the end of "orogenies", defined by a statistical treatment of ages (Stockwell, 1964).

Here it must be remembered that our proposed Australian classification does not depend on plutonic events for its definitions, although in places, plutonic events have initiated the deposition of the sequence of rocks from which our time-rock units are defined. Nevertheless some comparisons can be made with overseas classifications, and it is possible that application of time-rock principles to the overseas classifications would show even more striking similarities in the limits of subdivisions.

We believe that the Australian Precambrian rocks can be used to provide some very important contributions to an eventual world-wide time-rock division of the Precambrian. Much work still remains to be done to finalize the definitions in our Australian classification, but we hope that this paper will provide some stimulus for further research and discussion.

#### Acknowledgements

The contents of this paper represent the results of discussion of data and ideas with many of the authors' colleagues in both the Bureau of Mineral Resources and the Australian National University, as well as with visitors to the Precambrian symposia held at the 1964 A.N.Z.A.A.S. conference and at the Australian National University.

In particular the authors acknowledge the work of Drs W. Compston and B.P. Walpole, who, with energy and enthusiasm, promoted this aspect of geochronology and supervised the acquisition and collation of much of the information; they were largely responsible for the development of the theme of this paper. Dr Compston has contributed much helpful criticism throughout various stages in the writing of this paper. Dr I. McDougall (ANU) has also made helpful suggestions.

The authors also thank Sir Harold Raggatt, Dr. N.H. Fisher, Mr. L. C. Noakes, and Dr. K.A.W. Crcok, who critically read the manuscript and encouraged its publication.

The authors have received permission to publish from the Director of the Bureau of Mineral Resources.

#### References

- G.S.A., 1962 Geological notes in explanation of the tectonic map of Australia. Geol. Soc. Aust. and Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust.
- ALDRICH, L.T., WETHERILL, G.W., BASS, M.N., TILTON, G.R., and DAVIS, G.L., 1960 Mineral age measurements and earth history. Ann. Rep. Carneg. Instn, 59, pp. 208-213.
- BROWN, D.A., CAMPBELL, K.S.W., and CROOK, K.A.W., 1966 Geological evolution of Australia and New Zealand. Permagon.
- CARTER, E.K., BROOKS, J.H., and WALKER, K.R., 1961 The Precambrian mineral belt of north-western Queensland.

  <u>Bull. Bur. Min. Resour.</u>, Geol. Geophys., Aust., 51.
- COMPSTON, W., and PIDGEON, R.T., 1962 Rubidium-Strontium dating of shales by the total-rock method.

  3502.
- COMPSTON, W., CRAWFORD, A.R., and BOFINGER, V.M., 1966 A radiometric estimate of the duration of sedimentation in the Adelaide Geosyncline, South Australia. <u>J. geol. Soc. Aust.</u>, 13 (1), pp.229-276.
- CROOK, K.A.W., 1966 Principles of Precambrian time-stratigraphy. <u>J. geol. Soc. Aust.</u>, 13 (1), pp. 195-202.
- DAVID, T.W.E., 1914 Geology of the Commonwealth; in Federal Handbook on Australia issued in connection with the visit of the British Association for the Advancement of Science to Australia, 1914, pp. 241-325.
- DAVID, T.W.E., 1932 Explanatory Notes to accompany a new geological map of the Commonwealth of Australia. (A'asian Medical Publishing Co., Sydney).
- DAVID, T.W.E., (ed BROWNE, W.R.) 1950 The geology of the Commonwealth of Australia. London, Arnold.
- DEPARTMENT OF NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT, 1958 Geology; in Atlas of Australian Resources. Dept. of National Development, Canberra.
- DOW, D.B., GEMUTS, I., PLUMB, K.A., and DUNNET, D., 1964 The Geology of the Ord River region, Western Australia. Rec. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust., 1964/104 (unpubl.).
- DUNN, P.R., SMITH, J.W., and ROBERTS, H.G., The geology of the Carpentaria Proterozoic province, N.T. Part 1, Roper River to Queensland border. Bull. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust. (in prep.).
- EARDLEY, A.J., 1963 Time-scale for the Precambrian. Geol. Soc. Am. Sp. Pap., 76, p. 271 (Abstracts for 1963).

- PIDGEON, R.T., 1964 The geochronology of two regionally metamorphosed areas in New South Wales. <u>PhD.</u> thesis, Australian National Univ. (unpubl.).
- POLOVINKINA, Yu. Ir., and POLEVAYA, N.I., 1964 Main geochronologic stages in the evolution of the Ukrainian crystalline block. <u>Dokl. Acad. Sci. U.S.S.R.</u> (Earth Sciences Section), 159, pp. 57-59 (English translation).
- RHODES, J.M., 1965 The geological relationships of the Rum Jungle Complex. Rep. Bur. Min. Resour. Geol. Geophys., Aust., 89.
- RICHARDS, J.R., 1966 Some Rb-Sr measurements on granites near Mount Isa. Proc. Aust. Inst. Min. Metall., 218, pp. 19-23.
- RICHARDS, J.R., BERRY, H., and RHODES, J.M., 1966 Isotopic and leadalpha ages of some Australian zircons. J. geol. Soc. Aust., 13 (1), pp. 69-96.
- RICHARDS, J.R., COOPER, J.A., and WEBB, A.W., 1963 Potassium-argon ages on micas from the Precambrian region of north-western Queensland. J. geol. Soc. Aust., 10 (2), pp. 299-312.
- ROBERTS, H.G., PLUMB, K.A., DUNN, P.R., The geology of the Carpentaria Proterozoic province, Northern Territory, Part 2, Arnhem Land. Bull. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust. (in prep.).
- ROBERTS, H.G., HALLIGAN, R., and GEMUTS, I., 1965 Geology of the Mount Ramsay 1:250,000 Sheet area E/52-9, Western Australia. Rec. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust., 1965/156 (unpubl.).
- RYAN, G.R., 1965 The geology of the Pilbara Block, Western Australia.

  Proc. Aust. Inst. Min. Metall., 214, pp. 61-94.
- SALOP, L.I., 1964 Pre-Cambrian geochronology and some peculiarities of the early stage of geological evolution of the earth. <u>Int. geol.</u> Cong., 22nd Sess., India, Abstracts p. 158.
- SEMIKHATOV, M.A., 1964 To the problem of the Proterozoic. <u>Izv. Akad.</u>
  Nauk. U.S.S.R., Ser. Geol., 1964 (2), pp. 66-84 (in Russian).
- SPRIGG, R.C., 1952 Sedimentation in the Adelaide Geosyncline and the formation of the continental terrace. Sir Douglas Mawson Anniv. Vol. Univ. of Adelaide. pp. 153-159.
- SPRY, A.H., and BANKS, M., 1955 Stratigraphic nomenclature in the Precambrian. Aust. J. Sci., 17, pp. 208-210.
- STOCKWELL, C.H., 1963 Third report on structural provinces, orogenies and time-classification of rocks of the Canadian Precambrian Shield.

  Pap. geol. Surv. Canada, 63-17, pp. 125-13.
- STOCKWELL, C.H., 1964 Fourth report on structural provinces, orogenies and time-classification of rocks of the Canadian Precambrian Shield.

  Pap. geol. Surv. Canada, 64-17.
- THOMSON, B.P., 1965 The lower boundary of the Adelaide System and older basement relationships in South Australia. J. geol. Soc. Aust., 13 (1), pp. 203-228.
- TUREK, A., and STEPHENSON, N., 1966 The radiometric age of the Albany Granite and the Stirling Range Beds, south-west Australia. <u>J. geol. Soc. Aust.</u> (in press).

- FORMAN, D.J., 1965 Geology of the south-western margin of the Amadeus Basin, central Australia. Rep. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust., 87.
- GASTIL, R.G., 1960 The distribution of mineral dates in time and space. Amer. J. Sci., 258, pp. 1-35.
- GELLATLY, D.C., DERRICK, G.M., and PLUMB, K.A., 1965 The geology of the Lansdowne 1:250,000 Sheet SE52/5, Western Australia. Rec. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust., 1965/210 (unpubl.).
- GILLULY, J., 1966 Orogeny and geochronology. Amer. J. Sci., 264 pp. 97-111.
- GLAESSNER, M.F., 1966 Precambrian palaeontology. <u>Earth-Sci. Rev.</u>, 1 (1966), pp. 29-50.
- GOLDICH, S.S., NIER, A.O., BAADSGAARD, H., HOFFMAN, J.H., and KROUGER, H.W., 1961 The Precambrian geology and geochronology of Minnesota. Bull. Minn. geol. Surv., 41.
- HALLIGAN, R., and DANIELS, J.L., 1964 Precambrian geology of the Ashburton Valley region, north-west division. Ann. Rep. geol. Surv. W. Aust., 1963, pp. 88-96.
- HOSSFELD, P.S., 1954 Stratigraphy and structure of the Northern Territory of Australia. <u>Trans. roy. Soc. S. Aust.</u>, 77, pp. 103-161.
- HORWITZ, R.C., and SOFOULIS, J., 1965 Igneous activity and sedimentation in the Precambrian between Kalgoorlie and Norseman, Western Australia. Proc. Aust. Inst. Min. Metall., 214, pp. 45-51.
- HURLEY, P.M., FISHER, N.H., PINSON, W.H., and FAIRBAIRN, H.W., 1961 Geochronology of Proterozoic granites in Northern Territory, Australia, Part 1 K-Ar and Rb-Sr age determinations. <u>Bull. geol. Soc. Amer.</u>, 72, pp. 653-662.
- I.S.S.T., 1965 Definition of geologic systems. <u>Bull. Am. Assoc.</u> <u>Petrol. Geol.</u>, 49, pp. 1694-1703.
- KELLER, B.M., 1964 The Riphean Group. <u>Int. geol. Cong., 22nd Sess.</u>, India, Abstracts p. 150.
- LEGGO, P.J., COMPSTON, W., and TRENDALL, A.F., 1965 Radiometric ages of some Precambrian rocks from the north-west division of Western Australia. J. geol. Soc. Aust., 12 (1), pp. 53-66.
- McDOUGALL, I., DUNN, P.R., COMPSTON, W., WEBB, A.W., RICHARDS, J.R., and BOFINGER, J.M., 1965 Isotopic age determinations on Precambrian rocks of the Carpentaria region, Northern Territory, Australia. J. geol. Soc. Aust., 12 (1), pp. 67-90.
- McLEOD, W.N., de la HUNTY, L.E., JONES, W.R., and HALLIGAN, R., 1963 A preliminary report on the Hammersley Iron Province, north-west division. Ann. Rep. geol. Surv. W. Aust., 1962, pp. 44-54.
- MAWSON, D., and SPRIGG, R.C., 1950 Subdivision of the Adelaide System.

  Aust. J. Sci., 13 (3), pp. 69-72.
- NOAKES, L.C., 1953 The structure of the Northern Territory with relation to mineralization; in <a href="Geology of Australian Ore Deposits">Geology of Australian Ore Deposits</a>. 1st ed. (Ed. A.B. Edwards) pp. 284-296 (5th Emp. Min. Met. Congr. Melbourne).

- VINOGRADOV, A.P., and TUGARINOV, A.I., 1961 Geochronology of the Precambrian. Geochemistry (English translation), 1961 (9), pp. 787-800.
- WALPOLE, B.P., DUNN, P.R., and RANDAL, M.A., The geology of the Katherine-Darwin Region, Northern Territory.

  <u>Bull. Bur. Min. Resour.</u>,

  <u>Geol. Geophys., Aust.</u>, 82, (in press).
- WALPOLE, B.P., ROBERTS, H.G., and FORMAN, D.J., 1965 Geology of the Northern Territory in relation to mineralization; in Geology of Australian Ore Deposits, 2nd Edition (ed. J. McAndrew), pp. 160-167 (8th Comm. Min. Met. Congr. Australia).
- WALPOLE, B.P., and SMITH, K.G., 1960 Geochronology of Proterozoic granites in Northern Territory, Australia. Part 2. Stratigraphy and structure. <u>Bull. geol. Soc. Amer.</u>, 72, pp. 663-668.
- WELIN, E., 1966 The absolute time-scale and the classification of Precambrian rocks in Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förb., 88, pp. 29-33.
- WELLS, A.T., FORMAN, D.J., and RANFORD, L.C., 1965 The geology of the north-western part of the Amadeus Basin, Northern Territory. Rep. Bur. Min. Resour., Geol. Geophys., Aust., 85.
- WILSON, A.F., COMPSTON, W., JEFFREY, P.M., and RILEY, G.H., 1960 Radioactive ages from the Precambrian rocks in Australia. J. geol. Soc. Aust., 6 (2), pp. 179-195.